
Agenda compiled by:
Governance Services
Civic Hall
LEEDS LS1 1UR
Telephone No:

Phil Garnett 

0113 39 51632

Produced on Recycled Paper

1

GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE

Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds, LS1 1UR on
Monday, 9th May, 2016 at 3.00 pm

MEMBERSHIP

Councillors

D Blackburn Farnley and Wortley;
J Blake Middleton Park;
R Charlwood Moortown;
S Golton Rothwell;
G Latty Guiseley and Rawdon;
J Lewis Kippax and Methley;
A Lowe Armley;
J Procter Wetherby;
J Pryor Headingley;
M Rafique Chapel Allerton;
S Varley Morley South;
L Yeadon Kirkstall;

Public Document Pack



2

A G E N D A

Item
No

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No

1  APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION 
OF DOCUMENTS

To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 15.2 of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules (in the event of an appeal the 
press and public will be excluded).

(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 15.2, written 
notice of an appeal must be received by the Head 
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before 
the meeting)

2  EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE 
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

1 To highlight reports or appendices which 
officers have identified as containing exempt 
information, and where officers consider that 
the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information, for the reasons 
outlined in the report.

2 To consider whether or not to accept the 
officers recommendation in respect of the 
above information.

3 If so, to formally pass the following 
resolution:-

RESOLVED – That the press and public be 
excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the 
agenda designated as containing exempt 
information on the grounds that it is likely, in 
view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, 
that if members of the press and public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information, as follows:-



3

3  LATE ITEMS

To identify items which have been admitted to the 
agenda by the Chair for consideration

(The special circumstances shall be specified in 
the minutes)

4  DECLARATION OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY 
AND OTHER INTERESTS

To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable 
pecuniary interests for the purposes of Section 31 
of the Localism Act 2000 and paragraphs 13-18 of 
the Members’ Code of Conduct. Also to declare 
any other significant interests which the Member 
wishes to declare in the public interest, in 
accordance with paragraphs 19-20 of the 
Members’ Code of Conduct.

5  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To receive any apologies for absence from the 
meeting.

6  MINUTES - 9TH FEBRUARY 2016

To receive and approve the minutes of the meeting 
held on 9th February 2016

1 - 2

7  AMENDMENTS TO COUNCIL PROCEDURE 
RULES

To receive a report of the City Solicitor which 
presents feedback from political groups on 
changes to the operation of Ordinary Council 
meetings that have been in operation for a trial 
period during this municipal year and seeks 
approval to the new arrangements set out at 
Appendix 1 with effect from the commencement of 
the new municipal year.

3 - 38

Item
No

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No



4

8  PLANS PANELS TERMS OF REFERENCE

To receive a report of The Chief Planning Officer 
detailing amendments to the Plans Panel Terms of 
Reference.

39 - 
50

THIRD PARTY RECORDING

Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those not present to see or 
hear the proceedings either as they take place (or later) and to enable the 
reporting of those proceedings.  A copy of the recording protocol is available 
from the contacts named on the front of this agenda.

Use of Recordings by Third Parties– code of practice

a) Any published recording should be accompanied by a statement of 
when and where the recording was made, the context of the 
discussion that took place, and a clear identification of the main 
speakers and their role or title.

b) Those making recordings must not edit the recording in a way that 
could lead to misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the 
proceedings or comments made by attendees.  In particular there 
should be no internal editing of published extracts; recordings may 
start at any point and end at any point but the material between 
those points must be complete.

Item
No

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Monday, 9th May, 2016

GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE

TUESDAY, 9TH FEBRUARY, 2016

PRESENT: Councillor J Lewis in the Chair

Councillors D Blackburn, D Coupar (as 
substitute for J Blake), S Golton, M Ingham 
(as substitute for R Charlwood), G Latty, 
A Lowe, J Pryor, M Rafique, S Varley and 
L Yeadon

Apologies Councillors J Blake, R Charlwood and 
J Procter 

26 Appeals against refusal of inspection of documents 

There were no appeals against refusal of inspection of documents.

27 Exempt Information - possible exclusion of the press and public 

There were no resolutions to exclude the public.

28 Late items 

There were no late items submitted for consideration.

29 Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary and Other Interests 

There were no declarations made.

30 Apologies for absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors J Blake, R Charlwood 
and J Procter. 

Councillor Coupar was in attendance as substitute for Councillor J Blake and 
Councillor Ingham was in attendance as substitute for Councillor R 
Charlwood.

31 Minutes - 8th December 2015 

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 8th December 2015 be 
approved as a correct record.

32 Approval of the 2016/17 Pay Policy Statement 

The Senior HR Business Partner presented a report of The Chief Officer HR 
which sought Members’ views on the revised Pay Policy Statement and for 

Page 1

Agenda Item 6



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Monday, 9th May, 2016

the Committee to make recommendations to Full Council to approve the 
changes before the start of the 2016/17 financial Year.

RESOLVED – The Committee resolved to:

(a) Recommend to full Council that the review of the Pay Policy Statement 
for the 2016/17 financial year be adopted;

(b) Recommend that any in year amendment to the Annual Pay Policy 
Statement in respect of exit payment caps or as a consequence of 
changes to Leeds City Council’s policy statement on Pension Scheme 
Discretions is undertaken by the Chief Officer (HR) and reported to the 
General Purposes Committee; and

(c) Note the assurances from the Deputy Chief Executive that the senior 
management pay structure is appropriate and complied with.

33 Extension of Webcasting 

The Head of Governance Services presented a report of the City Solicitor 
which provided an update on the outcome of two trial webcasts in the newly 
refurbished committee room and sought General Purposes Committee’s 
agreement to extend webcasting to meetings of the Executive Board.

RESOLVED – The Committee resolved that:

(a) Webcasting facilities be extended to the new committee room facility as 
set out in paragraph 4.4 of the submitted report;

(b) The Chief Information Technology Officer be requested to ensure that 
enhanced Internet access is installed into the new committee room; 

(c) Meetings of Executive Board are webcast as soon as is possible and 
by no later than the meeting of the Board in April 2016; and

(d) The contract option to extend the existing webcasting services in the 
Civic Hall be agreed, with that extension being for a further 24 months 
from 1st September 2016 to 31st August 2018.

34 Date and Time of next meeting 

3pm Monday 9th May 2016.

Page 2



 

 

Report of the City Solicitor 

Report to General Purposes Committee 

Date: 9th May 2016 

Subject: Amendments to Council Procedure Rules and to the City Solicitor’s 
Council Delegations 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):   

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

In June the General Purposes Committee agreed that a number of changes be introduced, 
for Council meetings on a trial basis (for the July and September meetings), in October this 
trial period was extended by General Purposes Committee for the remainder of the 
municipal year in recognition that the new arrangements have not yet been ‘tested’ on an 
occasion where Honorary Aldermen are being appointed, and that concerns from 
opposition groups remained concerning the time taken in each meeting to consider 
Community Committee reports. 
 
This report considers feedback from political groups on the outcome of the trial period to 
date and recommends adoption of the new arrangements as agreed procedures from the 
commencement of the new municipal year.   This report also considers proposals relating 
to substitution arrangements for this committee and for scrutiny boards and recommends 
minor amendments to the Council (non-Executive) delegations to the City Solicitor 
 
General Purposes Committee is asked to; 
 
1 Recommend that full Council approves the revised Council Procedure Rules as 

set out at Appendix 1. 
2 Note the indicative timings for the consideration of business at Ordinary meetings 

of full Council set out at Appendix 2. 
3 Recommend that full Council approves the amendment to the Officer Delegation 

Scheme (Council (non-executive) Functions) for the City Solicitor as set out at 
Appendix 3. 
 

 Report Author:  A Hodson 
Tel:  2243208 

Page 3

Agenda Item 7



 

 

1        Purpose of this report 

1.1 This report presents feedback from political groups on changes to the 
operation of Ordinary Council meetings that have been in operation for a trial 
period during this municipal year and seeks approval to the new 
arrangements set out at Appendix 1 with effect from the commencement of 
the new municipal year. 

1.2 In addition this report proposes a minor amendment to the Officer Delegation 
Scheme (Council (non-executive) Functions) for the City Solicitor as set out at 
Appendix 3 to this report. 

2 Amendments to Full Council Procedure Rules 

2.1 Following cross party discussions a number of amendments to existing 
arrangements were introduced on a trial basis during the 2015-16 municipal 
year.  The background to those amendments and the feedback, which has 
been received from political groups, is set out below. 

Start time for Ordinary Full Council Meetings 

2.2 To accommodate the proposals set out in respect of White Paper motions, 
there was a requirement to add further time into the Council meeting.  On 
balance Leaders and Whips were supportive of an earlier start time for 
Council meetings of 1pm.  

2.3 Group Whips have been generally supportive of this earlier start time, and it 
has been possible to reasonably accommodate the appointment of Honorary 
Aldermen1 within the new meeting format.  

Backbench Community Concerns 

2.4 For the past two Municipal Years periods of 6 ten minute blocks have been 
reserved in Council business to consider Backbench Community Concerns.   

2.5 This defined area of business has proved useful in enabling backbench 
members a platform to introduce concerns into the Council meeting. However, 
given the enhanced remit for Community Committees to lead on local issues, 
there is now cross party support for the removal of this formal item of 
business from the full Council proceedings.   

2.6 Officers understand that all Groups remain supportive of this change. 

 

                                            

1 Whips remain of the view that, in circumstances where full Council are appointing Honorary 
Aldermen, that these meetings commence at 1pm and that the business of the Ordinary Meeting 
be adjusted by way of a Whips’ agreement to facilitate, as far as is possible, a 7.30pm conclusion 
of the Ordinary Council business.  

 

Page 4



 

 

Devolution Matters/Health and Wellbeing Board Minutes 

2.7 Groups Leaders were collectively supportive of introducing two new elements 
to Council business, both of which are enabled by the time freed up from the 
removal of Backbench Community Concerns.   

2.8 The first related to the introduction of a reporting process to Council on 
matters devolved to, or of significance in respect of the work/operation of, the 
West Yorkshire Combined Authority.  The basis of this item has been a 
regular report, essentially summarising the business considered by the West 
Yorkshire Combined Authority and issues of significance to the devolution 
negotiations taking place. The report has been considered after the Tea 
Break, for a time limited period of 30 minutes, and has enabled all groups the 
opportunity to contribute to this important debate.  

2.9 Officers understand that all Groups remain supportive of this change. 

2.10 In addition Group Leaders were supportive of a defined period of time (twenty 
minutes under the minute’s item) for the consideration of the minutes of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board and for the procedures to allow for any unused 
time from this slot to be allocated for the consideration of Executive Board 
minutes.   

2.11 Health and Wellbeing Board Minutes were considered and fully debated at the 
July and November meetings. At the September, January and March 
meetings no Health and Wellbeing Board minutes were due for consideration 
and so additional time was added to the consideration of the Executive 
Board’s minutes. At the February (budget) meeting the minutes were available 
but time was allocated to Executive Board minutes. Officers understand that 
all Groups remain supportive of this change. 

2.12 Further to the arrangements trialled during the last Municipal Year the 
Administration proposes that Health and Wellbeing minutes be received prior 
to Executive Board minutes, with the Leader then summing up at the 
conclusion of the Executive Board minute block.   

2.13 A consequence of this being that the rotated consideration of other committee 
minutes (for a period of twenty minutes) would be removed from the order of 
council business with the time (a further 20 minutes) instead allocated to 
concentrate solely on the minutes from Executive Board. Councillor Golton, 
Leader of the Liberal Democratic Group has commented that General 
Purposes Committee should be mindful to ensure that changes proposed 
should not undermine the parity of esteem that needs to exist between the 
Executive and Scrutiny.  

Receipt of Community Committee Reports 

2.14 Group Whips have previously discussed the mechanism by which Community 
Committee reports are routinely considered at Council meetings. 

 

Page 5



 

 

2.15 The changes introduced for the trial period sought to balance a divergence of 
views across political groups on this item of business.  During the trial period 
consideration of this business was time limited to no more than ten minutes 
per committee report, with contributor’s speaking time being limited to no 
more than two minutes. All ten Community Committees have now reported to 
Council under this trial format.   

2.16 Following the trial period, and having reflected on views expressed by all 
groups, the Administration now propose an alternative approach whereby the 
existing Annual Reports (from Scrutiny/Standards/Community Committees) 
are further added to and scheduled for receipt by full Council during the 
municipal year.   

2.17 The proposal is that annual reports from Licensing Committee and (jointly) 
from Plans Panels be now received and considered to provide an opportunity 
for input from all political groups. This will provide a defined time of up to 30 
minutes (per annual report) for consideration of the issues within the remit of 
these committees. The proposed cycle for receipt is set out below. 

Council Meeting Cycle Report 
 

June/July Scrutiny Boards (joint report) 
September Community Committees (joint 

report)  
November  Plans Panels (joint report) 
January  Licensing Committee 
March/April Standards Committee 

White Paper Motions 

2.18 Two changes to the time limits for White Papers have been introduced as part 
of the trial.  Firstly an extension of the period of time for debating White Paper 
Motions from 30 minutes to 45 minutes.  

2.19 Secondly in acknowledgment of comments received from Members 
concerning the too limited speaking times for Members contributing to 
debates and summing up, the speaking time for those moving a White Paper 
motion has been increased to 5 minutes and all other contributions have been 
increased to 4 minutes. 

2.20 Officers understand that all Groups remain supportive of this change. 

Other Speaking Rights and Amendments 

Speaking rights 

2.21 The trial period also removed restrictions on seconders from the same group 
being permitted to speak.  Those Members being able, in the case of White 
Paper motions, to speak for up to four minutes, and for all other business up 
to 3 minutes.  Discussions during the municipal year have also clarified the 
arrangements whereby members who have seconded motions, and then 
reserve the right to speak, then subsequently indicate their wish to the Lord 
Mayor to enter the debate. 

Page 6



 

 

2.22 Officers understand that all Groups remain supportive of this change. 

Deadline for the Submission of Amendments 

2.23 An earlier submission deadline for White Paper amendments has also been 
trialled with the revised deadline being 10am on the day prior to Council rather 
than 24 hours in advance of the council meeting.  This trial has worked well 
and has enabled Group Whips sight of amendments a number of hours in 
advance of the pre Council whips meeting.  

2.24 Officers understand that all Groups remain supportive of this change. 

Amendments arising from the Annual Review of the Constitution 

Substitution Arrangements 

2.25 During the annual review of the constitution the City Solicitor has identified 
anomalies with regard to the existing substitution provisions for General 
Purposes Committee and for Scrutiny Boards.  For General Purposes 
Committee the City Solicitor proposes that the pool of members eligible to 
attend in place of an absent member be extended to include group leaders 
and group deputy leaders.  This proposal is set out in Appendix 1 (rule 26.1 
(e)). 

2.26 For Scrutiny Boards the City Solicitor proposes that the pool of members 
eligible to attend in the place of an absent member be redefined to include 
any non-executive member. This proposal is set out in Appendix 1 (rule 26.1 
(f)). 

Clarification 

2.27 Council Procedure Rule 22.1 allows for Council Procedure Rules to be 
suspended by a motion made and seconded and carried by a majority of the 
Members present at the meeting. Where a motion to suspend is in relation to 
the introduction of a motion, for the sake of clarity, the City Solicitor proposes 
that a footnote be added to this rule which clarifies that such motions are 
capable of being amended. This proposal is set out in Appendix 1 (rule 22.1 
footnote 25). 

3 Amendment to Officer Delegation Scheme (Council (non executive) 
Functions) 

3.1 The City Solicitor’s executive delegations authorise the City Solicitor to “take 
any action intended to give effect to a decision of the Executive (taken under 
the Leader’s executive arrangements.)”  However there is currently no 
correlative provision in respect of this implied authority in relation to Council 
functions.  It is therefore recommended that the City Solicitor’s Council 
delegations are amended, as set out at Appendix 3 attached, to include 
express authority to take any action intended to give effect to a decision of the 
Council, including any decision taken in accordance with the Council’s 
committees terms of reference or officer delegation scheme. 

Page 7



 

 

4 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1 Consultation and engagement has taken place with the Leader of Council, with 
each opposition Group Leader and with group whips.    

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

4.2.1 There are no implications for this report. 

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan 

4.3.1 All amendments are in line with the Council’s Code of Corporate Governance, 
particularly with regard to the principles of focussing on the Council’s purpose 
and community needs; having clear responsibilities and arrangements for 
accountability; and taking informed and transparent decisions which are 
subject to effective scrutiny and risk management. 

4.3.2 The introduction of items around Health and Wellbeing Board and devolution 
enable full Council to deliberate these aspects of the City’s wider priorities. 

4.4 Resources and value for money  

4.4.1 The proposal to remove the consideration of the other minutes block from the 
Council agenda will result in approximately £5k savings in printing costs.  All 
Members may however request to continue to receive these minutes for 
information via email. 

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.5.1 The amendments proposed are in line with legislation with there being no legal 
requirement for full Council to receive and consider the minutes of other 
Boards and Panels. 

4.6 Risk Management 

4.6.1 There are no implications for risk management arising from this report this 
report. 

5 Conclusions 

5.1 Members are asked now to consider the formal adoption of the revised 
procedures set out at Appendix 1 and make recommendations to the Annual 
Council meeting for the revised procedures to be agreed. 

5.2 Appendix 2 provides an indicative summary of the timings of the full Council 
meeting under these proposes arrangements.  

5.3 The proposed amendment to the City Solicitor’s Council delegations, set out 
at Appendix 3, would confirm authority to take any action intended to give 
effect to a council decision (in the same way as provided by executive 
delegations). 

Page 8



 

 

6 Recommendations 

6.1 General Purposes Committee is asked to; 

• Recommend that full Council approves the revised Council Procedure Rules 
as set out at Appendix 1. 

• Note the indicative timings for the consideration of business at Ordinary 
meetings of full Council set out at Appendix 2. 

• Recommend that full Council approves the amendment to the Officer 
Delegation Scheme (Council (non-executive) Functions) to the City Solicitor 
as set out at Appendix 3. 

7 Background documents2  

7.1 None 

                                            
2 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Council Procedure Rules 
                                                                                

Part 4(a) 
Page 1 of 23 

Issue 1 – 2015/16 
 

COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
 
1.0 ANNUAL MEETING OF COUNCIL 
 
1.1 Timing and Business 
 
 In a year when there is an ordinary election of Councillors, the annual meeting will 

take place within 21 days of the retirement of the outgoing Councillors.  In any other 
year, the annual meeting will take place in March, April or May. 

 
 The annual meeting will: 
 

(a) elect a person to preside if the Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor are not 
present; 

 
(b) elect the Lord Mayor; 
 
(c) pass a vote of thanks to the retiring Lord Mayor; 
 
(d) elect a Deputy Lord Mayor (or Vice Chair of Council); 
 
(e) approve the minutes of the last meeting; 
 
(f) receive any declarations of interest from Members; 
 
(g) receive any announcements from the Lord Mayor and/or Head of Paid 

Service; 
 
(h) elect the Leader1; 
 
(i)  consider any recommendations made by General Purposes Committee; 
 
(j) establish such committees2 as are required by statute and such other 

committees as it considers appropriate to deal with matters  which are neither 
reserved to the Council nor are executive functions (as set out in Part 3, 
Section 2A of this Constitution);3  

 
(k) No appointments under Rule 1 shall be for a period beyond the next Annual 

Meeting of the Council but they may be altered at any meeting of the Council; 
 
(l) agree the scheme of delegation or such part of it as the Constitution 

determines it is for the Council to agree (as set out in Part 3, Section 2C of 
this Constitution); 

                                            
1 Only as required by Article 7.  If the Council fails to elect the Leader at the relevant annual meeting, or a 
vacancy in the office arises, the Leader is to be elected at a subsequent meeting.  
2 Such committees may be known as boards or panels.   
3 References in these Rules to any committee established under Rule 1.1(j) shall be construed as including 
any other committee established by Full Council during municipal year.  

Appendix 1 

Page 11



Council Procedure Rules 
                                                                                

Part 4(a) 
Page 2 of 23 

Issue 1 – 2015/16 
 

 
(m) receive the documents presented by the Leader in accordance with 

Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rules; 
 
(n) approve a programme of ordinary meetings of the Council for the year; and 

 
(o) consider any business set out in the notice convening the meeting. 

 
1.2 Selection of Councillors on Committees and Outside Bodies 
 
 At the annual meeting, the Council will: 
 

(a) decide which committees to establish for the municipal year; 
 
(b) decide the size and terms of reference for those committees; 
 
(c) decide the allocation of seats to political groups in accordance with the 

political balance rules; 
 
(d) appoint to those committees and outside bodies except where appointments 

to those bodies has been delegated by the Council; and 
 
(e)  appoint the Chair of those committees. 

 
2.0 ORDINARY MEETINGS 
 
2.1 Council Meetings 
 

The Council may amend the programme of ordinary meetings agreed at the annual 
meeting.   

 
All ordinary meetings shall be held at the Civic Hall, Leeds, at 1.00pm, unless full 
Council decides otherwise. 

 
2.2 Order of Business 
 

Except as otherwise provided by Rule 2.3 or by statute, the order of business at 
every meeting of the Council, (other than the Annual meeting, any Extraordinary 
Meeting or the Budget Meeting4, or a State of the City meeting5 where the business 
to be transacted at the meeting will be specified in the Summons), shall be to: 
 
(a) choose a person to preside if the Lord Mayor and Vice Chair of Council are 

absent; 
 

                                            
4 Business over and above the budget is usually admitted by agreement but there is a presumption that such 
agreement will not include the attendance of deputations or question time.  
5 Or such other similarly styled meeting 

Page 12



Council Procedure Rules 
                                                                                

Part 4(a) 
Page 3 of 23 

Issue 1 – 2015/16 
 

(b) approve as a correct record and sign the minutes of the last meeting of the 
Council except where the meeting is a meeting called under paragraph 3 
(extraordinary meetings) of Schedule 12 to the Local Government Act 1972, 
in which case the next following meeting of the Council (being a meeting 
called other than under that paragraph) shall be treated as a suitable meeting 
for the purposes of paragraph 41(1) and (2) (signing of minutes) of that 
Schedule; 

 
(c) receive any declarations of interest from Members; 
 
(d) receive such communications as the Lord Mayor, the Leader, Deputy Leader,  

or Members of the Executive Board, or the Chief Executive consider to be 
appropriate; 

 
(e) receive deputations (if any) in accordance with Rule 10; 

 
(f) consider any recommendation of the Executive Board, and committees, 

established under Rule 1.1(j)6, and any sub-committees thereof; 
 

(g) receive such reports as the Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer or Section 
151 Officer consider appropriate7; 

 
(h) deal with Executive questions (if any) in accordance with Rule 11; 

 
(i) receive the minutes of  the Health and Wellbeing Board and Executive 

Board;  
 
(j) consider White Paper Motions (if any) submitted in accordance with Rule 12. 
 

2.3 Variation of Order of Business 
 

Business falling under items Rule 2.2 (a) or (b) shall not be displaced, but subject 
thereto the foregoing order of business may be varied by a resolution passed on a 
motion (which need not be in writing) duly moved and seconded, which shall be 
moved and put without discussion. 

 
3.0 TIME LIMITS FOR BUSINESS 
 
3.1 Each deputation shall be for no more than 5 minutes  
 
3.2 A period of 30 minutes will be allowed for Executive Questions. 
 
3.3 Consideration of all business to dispose of the motion to receive Health and 

Wellbeing Board and Executive Board minutes shall not continue beyond 4.20 pm.  
 

                                            
6 Annual reports will be received from the following committees: Scrutiny (jointly); Community Committees 
(jointly); Plans Panels (jointly); Licensing Committee; Standards Committee. 
7 In the case of a report relating to devolved matters, consideration of this report will take place after the tea 
break time; be time limited to 30 minutes; and will enable all groups the to contribute to the debate.   

Page 13



Council Procedure Rules 
                                                                                

Part 4(a) 
Page 4 of 23 

Issue 1 – 2015/16 
 

The motion to receive the minutes shall be conducted as follows; 
 

• Consideration of Health and Wellbeing Board will be for a period of twenty 
minutes  at the conclusion of which  comments on Executive Board minutes 
will be heard until 4.10 p.m. 

• The Leader of Council will sum up for a period of up to ten minutes from 
4.10pm. 

 
3.4  Each White Paper Motion shall be limited to forty five minutes, at the conclusion of 

which voting shall commence. 
 

4.0 WINDING UP OF BUSINESS 
 
4.1 At the conclusion of the speech being delivered at the expiry of a specified time 

period, the Lord Mayor shall put to the vote, without further discussion, all that is 
necessary to dispose of the matter under debate8 provided that: 

 
• Executive Questions 

 
Where a question has been commenced orally (but has not been completed within 
the time allotted for question time) that question is completed including any 
supplementary to that question and the response thereto. 
 

• Consideration of Minutes 
 
The Leader of Council has had the opportunity to sum up (for a period of not more 
than 10 minutes).  
 

• White Paper Motions/ Amendments 
 

The Mover of the motion has had the opportunity to sum up (for a period of not 
more than 4 minutes).  

 
• Reference Back 

 
The relevant Executive Board Member or Chair has had the opportunity to sum up 
(for a period of not more than 3 minutes) on the reference back.  

 
5.0 EXTRAORDINARY MEETINGS 
 

Those listed below may request the Proper Officer to call Council Meetings in 
addition to ordinary meetings: 
 
(a) the Council by resolution; 

                                            
8 For clarification, “all that is necessary properly to dispose of the matter under debate” means, as relevant, 
for the original motion properly to be moved and seconded; for any and all amendment(s) properly to be 
moved and seconded; and for the mover of the original motion to have an opportunity to exercise their right 
of reply/right to sum up. 

Page 14



Council Procedure Rules 
                                                                                

Part 4(a) 
Page 5 of 23 

Issue 1 – 2015/16 
 

 
(b) the Lord Mayor; 
 
(c) the Chief Executive, the Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer; and  
 
(d) any five Members of the Council if they have signed a requisition presented 

to the Lord Mayor and s/he has refused to call a meeting or has failed to call 
a meeting within seven clear days9 of the presentation of the requisition. 

 
6.0 NOTICE OF AND SUMMONS TO MEETINGS 
 
6.1 The Chief Executive will give notice to the public of the time and place of any 

meeting in accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules.  At least 
five clear days before a meeting, the Chief Executive will send a summons signed 
by him/her to every Member of the Council or leave it at their usual place of 
residence.  The summons will give the date, time and place of each meeting and 
specify the business to be transacted, and will be accompanied by such reports as 
are available. 

 
6.2 The notices for all meetings of committees established under Rule 1.1(j) shall be 

issued from the office of the Chief Executive and no matter shall be considered at 
such meeting without the prior agreement of the Chief Executive who shall first have 
been furnished with any written report or with details of any intended verbal report. 

 
7.0 POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE LORD MAYOR 
 
7.1 Any power or duty of the Lord Mayor in relation to the conduct of a meeting may be 

exercised by the Vice Chair, or in the absence of the Vice Chair, the person elected 
to preside at the meeting. 

 
7.2 Any duty of the Chief Executive in relation to the conduct of a meeting may be 

exercised in the Chief Executive's absence by the City Solicitor.  
 
8.0 QUORUM 
 
8.1 The quorum of a meeting will be one quarter of the whole number of Members10. 
 
8.2 If during any meeting of the Council, any Member draws to the attention of the Lord 

Mayor that there does not appear to be a quorum present, the Lord Mayor shall 
direct the Chief Executive to call over the names of the Members of the Council. If 
there is less than a quarter present, the Lord Mayor shall declare the meeting 
adjourned.  The names of the Members present and those absent shall be recorded 
in the minutes of the Council.   

 

                                            
9 Not including the date the requisition was received and not including weekends or bank holidays 
10 Where more than one third of the Members are disqualified at the same time, and until the number of 
Members in office is increased to not less than two thirds of the whole, the quorum shall be determined by 
reference to the number of Members remaining qualified 

Page 15



Council Procedure Rules 
                                                                                

Part 4(a) 
Page 6 of 23 

Issue 1 – 2015/16 
 

8.3 The consideration of any business not transacted shall be adjourned to a time fixed 
by the Lord Mayor at the time the meeting is adjourned or, if the Lord Mayor does 
not fix a time, to the next ordinary meeting of the Council. 
 

9.0 COMMUNICATIONS 
 
9.1 There shall be no discussion on any matter referred to in communications from the 

Lord Mayor, the Chief Executive or Executive Members as are thought necessary to 
be read, but any Member shall be at liberty to move a motion, without notice, to 
refer any of such communications to the appropriate committee and such motion, 
on being seconded, shall be at once put to the vote. 

 
10.0 DEPUTATIONS 
 
10.1 The Council will not receive more than four deputations at any ordinary meeting.11 

 
10.2 A request for permission to bring a Deputation must be submitted, to the Head of 

Governance Services, at least fourteen clear days in advance of the Council 
meeting for which permission is sought.   

 
10.3 A copy of the proposed deputation speech must accompany the permission 

request. 
 
10.4 Deputations shall be relevant to some matter in relation to which the Council has 

powers or duties or which affects the City of Leeds. 
 
10.5 Deputation requests which relate solely to the interests of an individual or company, 

or which present, or may appear to present unsubstantiated allegations or claims in 
respect of an individual, group of individuals, a company or any other body, or are in 
any way vexatious or otherwise significantly prejudicial to the interests of the 
Council or the City of Leeds, will not be permitted.   

 
10.6 Requests concerning matters being considered by a Plans Panel, the Licensing 

Committee (or a sub-committee) will not be received.  
 
10.7 The suitability of a Deputation shall be determined by the Chief Executive.  

Permission to attend Council and present a Deputation shall be issued by the Chief 
Executive. 

 
10.8 Eligible deputations shall be heard in the order in which permission is granted.   
 
10.9 A deputation shall consist of at least two and no more than five people. One person 

from a deputation may address the Council, for no longer than five minutes12. 
 

                                            
11 Except the Annual Meeting, an Extraordinary Meeting, the Budget Meeting and a State of the City (or other 
similarly styled) meeting where deputations shall not be heard. 
12 Including the reading of any written material 

Page 16



Council Procedure Rules 
                                                                                

Part 4(a) 
Page 7 of 23 

Issue 1 – 2015/16 
 

10.10 Where two or more deputations present opposing views on the same matter, the 
Council will not receive more than one of these related deputations at the same 
meeting. 

 
10.11 The Council shall not normally receive a deputation on a matter that has been the 

subject of a deputation in the previous six months, except as a result of a refusal at 
10.10. 

 
10.12 The Council shall not debate any matter raised by a deputation when it is 

presented.   
 
10.13 Any Member of the Council may move a motion without notice, that the deputation 

be or not be received, or that the subject matter be referred to the appropriate 
committee13. The Lord Mayor will put such a motion on being seconded, to the vote 
without debate. 

 
11.0 EXECUTIVE QUESTIONS  
 
11.1 Questions on Notice 
 

(a) Executive Questions may be put at each ordinary meeting of the Council 
(except, the Budget Meeting or a State of the City meeting14).  

 
(b) During question time, a Member may ask the Leader of the Council, the 

Deputy Leader, any Executive Member15 or the Chair of any executive 
committee16 through the Lord Mayor, any question on any matter in relation 
to which the Council has powers or duties, or which affects the City of 
Leeds17.    

 
(c) A question shall not be asked in the absence of the Member in whose name 

it stands unless they have given authority for it to be asked by some other 
Member of the Council. 

 
11.2 Notice of Questions 
 

Notice in writing of the question must be given to the Chief Executive before 
10.00am on the Monday preceding the Council meeting. Questions from an 
individual or group will be taken in the order in which notice of the question is 
received from that individual or group. 
 

 
                                            
13 Or to the officer with appropriate delegated authority who shall consider the matter in consultation with the 
relevant Executive Member. 
14 or other such styled meeting. Questions cannot be put at the Annual Meeting or any Extraordinary 
Meeting. 
15 In relation to any matter within their portfolio.    
16 In relation to any matter within the committee’s terms of reference.  
17  A Member may also ask a Member of the Council appointed by full Council to another body, any question 
about functions discharged by that other body.  Any question about any function discharged by the West 
Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Authority must be directed to a Member nominated by that Authority..   

Page 17



Council Procedure Rules 
                                                                                

Part 4(a) 
Page 8 of 23 

Issue 1 – 2015/16 
 

11.3 Response 
 

(a) Every question shall be put and answered without discussion but the person 
to whom a question has been put may decline to answer.  

 
(b) A Member to whom a question is addressed18 shall have discretion to 

nominate a Member to answer such question where the Member considers 
that the answer would most appropriately be given by such nominee. 

 
11.4 Form of Response 
 

An answer may take the form of: 
 
(a) a direct oral answer, or where the desired information is contained in a 

publication of the Council or of the relevant Joint Authority or Joint 
Committee, a reference to that publication; or 

 
(b) where the reply to the question cannot conveniently be given orally, a written 

answer circulated to Members of the Council.  Written answers wherever 
possible should be sent out by the Chief Executive within 10 working days. 

 
11.5 Supplementary Question 
 

The Member who asked a question during question time may ask one 
supplementary question, arising directly out of the original question.  
 

11.6 Unanswered Questions 
 

Where the answer has not been commenced during question time, it shall be 
answered by written answer circulated to Members of the Council.  If the answer to 
a question has been commenced orally but has not been completed within question 
time it may be completed orally including any supplementary to that question and 
the response thereto. 

 
12.0 MOTIONS ON NOTICE 
 
12.1 Notice 
 

Except for motions which can be moved without notice under Rule 13, written 
notice of every motion signed by the Member or Members of Council giving notice 
must be delivered at the office of the Chief Executive prior to 10.00am of the day 
preceding the day for issue of the Summons. The proposer of a Motion shall have 
the right to correct or withdraw a Motion up to 10.00 am on the day the Summons 
is to be issued. 

 
 

                                            
18 Except in relation to functions discharged by the West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Authority – see footnote 
15 above.    

Page 18



Council Procedure Rules 
                                                                                

Part 4(a) 
Page 9 of 23 

Issue 1 – 2015/16 
 

 
12.2 White Paper Motions 

 
The number of White Paper motions admissible for full debate at any given meeting 
shall be limited to three19 20.  
 

12.3 Scope 
 

(a) Every motion shall be relevant to some matter in relation to which the 
Council has powers or duties or which affects the City of Leeds. 

 
(b) All the notices of motion received by the Chief Executive shall be submitted 

to the Lord Mayor.  If the Lord Mayor considers that any such motion relates 
to matters other than of a local nature or is similar to a matter which in the 
past six months has been rejected at a meeting of the Council, the Member 
concerned shall ask leave of the Council to introduce such a motion before  
proceeding to address Council on it.  Once the motion is dealt with, no-one 
can propose a similar motion for six months. 

 
(c) There shall be no speech or discussion upon asking for such leave to so 

introduce a motion.  The fact that any such motion requires the leave of the 
Council shall be indicated in the Council Summons. 

 
(d) If it appears to the Lord Mayor that any motion requiring notice relates only in 

part to the matters stated in (b) above, the Lord Mayor may invite the 
Member of the Council concerned to amend the motion in agreement with the 
Lord Mayor either by omitting the part relating to such matters or by dividing 
the motion so that the part relating to such matters is stated in terms of a 
separate motion, but without addition to the terms of the original motion.  In 
such event the original motion shall appear on the Council Summons with the 
indication that it requires the leave of the Council, but it shall be competent 
for the Member concerned to move without leave the part agreed by that 
Member with the Lord Mayor as not relating to the matters above stated, and 
after that motion has been disposed of, if the Member so wishes, to move 
with leave of Council the remaining part of the motion. 

 
12.4 Motion Set Out in Agenda 
 

(a) The Chief Executive shall set out in the Summons for every meeting of the 
Council all motions of which notice has been duly given, and notice of all 
business which in the judgement of the Chief Executive requires to be 
brought before the Council. 

 
 
 

                                            
19One to the Labour Group, one to the Conservative Group, one to be shared on a rota agreed by the other 
political groups.  
20 Where submitted, the first White Paper considered will be that submitted by the Conservative Group  

Page 19



Council Procedure Rules 
                                                                                

Part 4(a) 
Page 10 of 23 

Issue 1 – 2015/16 
 

(b) The business under any notice upon the Council Summons shall not be 
proceeded with in the absence of the Member or Members of the Council in 
whose name or names it stands, unless they have given authority in writing 
for it to be taken up by some other Member or Members of the Council, or it 
is business which, by law, the Council must transact or business emanating 
from a committee the notice whereof stands in the name of the Chair of that 
committee in which latter case the resolution may be moved, without 
authority in writing, by  some other Member of the committee.  

 
13.0 MOTIONS/AMENDMENTS 
 
13.1 Motions and amendments requiring notice 

 
 
a) Except as set out in Rule 13.2 below, and as provided in Rule 14.8, no 

amendment to a motion (including an amendment to refer back any business 
for further consideration) shall be moved at any meeting of the Council 
unless notice thereof in writing setting out the amendment and signed by the 
Member or Members giving it, has been received by the Chief Executive: 

 
• no later than 10.00am on the working day before the commencement of 

the meeting; or 
• no later than 10.00 am on the third working day after the issue of the 

Summons if the amendment is to the Budget Motion. 
 
13.2 Motions without notice 
 
 The following motions and amendments may be moved without notice: 
 

(a) appointment of a Chair of the meeting at which the motion is made; 
 
(b) in relation to the accuracy of a report, minutes or recommendation before 

Council; 
 
(c) to change the order of business in the agenda; 
 
(d) that leave be given to withdraw an item of business including a motion or 

amendment; 
 
(e) that the Council proceed to the next business; 
 
(f) that the question be now put; 
 
(g) that the debate be adjourned; 
 
(h) that the meeting be adjourned 
 
(i) authorising the sealing of documents; 
 
(j) suspending Council Procedure Rules, in accordance with Rule 22.1; 

Page 20



Council Procedure Rules 
                                                                                

Part 4(a) 
Page 11 of 23 

Issue 1 – 2015/16 
 

 
(k) motion to exclude the press and public in accordance with the Access to 

Information Rules;  
 
(l) that a Member named under Rule 20, be not further heard or  leave the 

meeting; 
 
(m) giving consent of the Council where its consent is required by this 

Constitution; and 
 
(n) that a communication be referred to the appropriate Committee 

 
14.0 RULES OF DEBATE 
 
14.1 Period Permitted for Speeches 
 

Except by the leave of Council (and as follows); 

a. A Member may address Council under the Communications item for up to 
3 minutes. 

b. A Member moving a White Paper motion may speak for up to 5 minutes. 

c. A Member seconding a White Paper motion may speak for up to 4 
minutes21,  

d. A Member may speak for up to 4 minutes when contributing to, or 
summing up on, White Paper debates. 

e. A Member moving any other motion may speak for up to 4 minutes.  

f. A Member moving any amendment may speak for up to 4 minutes. 

g. An Executive Board Member or other such Member as may be 
determined appropriate, may speak for up to 6 minutes22 when summing 
up on comments made on Minutes. 

h. An Executive Board Member responsible for the section of the minutes to 
which an amendment (reference back) relates shall have 3 minutes to 
comment as the last speaker in the debate on the amendment (reference 
back). 

i. The Leader of Council may speak for up to ten minutes when summing 
up on the Minutes.  

                                            
21 A Member when seconding a White Paper motion, or an amendment to a White Paper Motion, may 
reserve that speech until a later period of the debate. 
22 Where the Executive Board Member is the Leader of Council the time available for summing up on his/her 
portfolio shall be 5 minutes. 

Page 21



Council Procedure Rules 
                                                                                

Part 4(a) 
Page 12 of 23 

Issue 1 – 2015/16 
 

j. A Member contributing to, or summing up on, any business other than set 
out above, may speak for up to 3 minutes.   

k. On resuming an adjourned debate, the Member who moved its 
adjournment is entitled to speak first for up to 3 minutes. 

14.2 No Speeches Until Motion Seconded 
 

All other motions or amendments shall not be discussed unless it has been 
proposed and seconded. 

 
14.3 Right to require motion in writing 
 

Unless notice has already been given in accordance with Rules 12.1 or 13 it shall 
be put into writing and handed to the Lord Mayor before it is further discussed or put 
to the meeting. 
 

14.4 Content of Speeches 
 
 Members shall direct their speech to the question under discussion, a personal 

explanation or a point of order. 
 
14.5 When a Member May Speak Again 
 

 A Member who has spoken on any motion shall not speak again whilst it is the 
subject of debate except: 

 
(i) if the motion has been amended since the Member last spoke, to move a 

further amendment 
 

(ii) in exercise of a right of reply  
 
(iii) to raise a point of order in accordance with Rule 14.15 
 
(iv) to make a  personal explanation in accordance with Rule 14.16 

 
For the purpose of this Rule only, comments on the minutes in each portfolio 
section of the Executive Board and each committee moved under Rule 2.2(i) shall 
be regarded as being comments upon separate motions and such comments shall 
be relevant to such section of the minutes as are under debate. 

 
14.6 Amendments to Motions 
 

(a) An amendment must be relevant to the motion and will be to:- 
 

(i) refer a subject of debate to an appropriate body or individual for 
consideration or reconsideration; 

 
(ii) leave out words; 

 

Page 22



Council Procedure Rules 
                                                                                

Part 4(a) 
Page 13 of 23 

Issue 1 – 2015/16 
 

(iii) leave out words and insert or add others; or 
 

 (iv) insert or add words, 
 

 provided that such omission, insertion or addition of words shall not have the 
effect solely of negating the motion.  

 
(b) Subject to Rule 14.6(c), only one amendment may be moved and discussed 

at any time.  No further amendment shall be moved until the amendment 
under discussion has been disposed of. 

 
(c) Amendments to White Paper motions shall be moved and discussed in the 

order in which notice thereof has been given and the voting thereon shall be 
taken after the winding-up speech of the mover of the original motion. 

 
14.7 Amendments (Reference Back) to a Motion to receive the Minutes 
 

(a) Only one amendment may be moved to any given minute under a motion to 
receive the minutes. This shall be one to request the decision-maker to 
reconsider the decision.  

 
(b) The Executive Member or Chair responsible for the section of the minutes to 

which the amendment relates shall have 3 minutes to comment as the last 
speaker in the debate on the amendment in addition to his/her rights under 
Rule 14.1(g). In the event that the amendment is the sole matter discussed 
under the given section of the minutes then the six minutes allowed under 
Rule 14.1(g) shall be applied. 

 
(c) The vote will be taken on the amendment before proceeding to comments on 

that section of the minutes. 
 
14.8 Further Amendments 
 

(a) If any amendment is lost, other amendments may be moved on the original 
motion provided that, where necessary, due notice has been given in 
accordance with Rule 13.1. 

 
(b) If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended takes the place of the 

original motion upon which any further such amendments may be moved but 
this does not prevent any further amendments being moved by references to 
the wording of the original motion.  

 
(c)  If a Member wishes to move a second or further amendment and has not 

given due notice thereof where required in accordance with Rule 13.1 the 
Member shall give notice of the proposed amendment during the discussion 
on the first or other earlier amendment and, subject to the consent of the 
Lord Mayor (which question shall not be open to discussion), may move this 
amendment at such time as the Lord Mayor shall decide.  Subject to this, all 
amendments shall be considered in the order in which notice has been 
given. 

Page 23



Council Procedure Rules 
                                                                                

Part 4(a) 
Page 14 of 23 

Issue 1 – 2015/16 
 

 
14.9 Alteration of Motion 
 

A Member may with the consent of the Council signified without discussion: 
 

(a) alter a motion of which that Member has given notice; or 
 

(b) with the further consent of the seconder, alter a motion which that Member 
has moved 

 
 if (in either case) the alteration is one which could be made as an amendment 

thereto. 
 
14.10 Withdrawal of Motion or Minutes 
 
 A motion or amendment shall not be withdrawn except with the consent of the 

seconder and of the Council.  There shall be no discussion upon an application to 
withdraw a motion or amendment but any Member shall be at liberty to move that 
the leave applied for be given and the Council without discussion shall vote thereon. 

 
14.11 Right of Reply 
 

(a) The mover of a motion has a right to reply at the close of debate of the 
motion immediately before it is put to the vote.   

 
(b) If an amendment is moved, the mover of the original motion shall also have a 

right of reply at the close of the debate on the amendment but may not 
otherwise speak on the amendment.   

(c) The mover of the amendment has no right of reply to the debate on such 
amendment. 

 
14.12 Motions that May Be Moved During Debate 
 

When a motion is under debate no motion shall be moved except the following:- 
 

(a) to amend the motion; 
 
(b) to adjourn the meeting; 
 
(c) to adjourn the debate; 
 
(d) to proceed to the next business; 
 
(e) that the question be now put; 
 
(f) that a Member be not further heard; 
 
(g) by the Lord Mayor under Rule 20 that a Member leave a meeting; 
 

Page 24



Council Procedure Rules 
                                                                                

Part 4(a) 
Page 15 of 23 

Issue 1 – 2015/16 
 

(h) to exclude the press and public in accordance with the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules; or 

 
(i) to give consent to the withdrawal of a motion or amendment. 

 
14.13 Closure Motions 
 

(a) A Member may move, without comment, at the conclusion of a speech of 
another Member, 

 
 (i) to proceed to the next business; 
  (ii) that the question be now put; 

(iii) to adjourn a debate; or 
   (iv) to adjourn a meeting 
 
  on the seconding of which the Lord Mayor shall proceed as set out in 

paragraphs (b), (c) and (d) below. 
 

(b) If a motion to proceed to the next business is seconded, the Lord Mayor will 
first give the mover of the original motion a right of reply in accordance with 
time limits for speaking set out in Procedure Rule 14.1.  The Lord Mayor will 
then put to the vote the motion to proceed to the next business. 

 
(c) If a motion that the question be now put is seconded, the Lord Mayor will first 

put to the vote the motion that the question be now put, and if it is passed 
then give the mover of the original motion a right of reply in accordance with 
time limits for speaking set out in Procedure Rule 14.1 before putting a 
motion to the vote. 

 
(d) If a motion to adjourn the debate or the meeting is seconded, the Lord Mayor 

shall put the adjournment motion to the vote without giving the mover of the 
original motion a right of reply on that occasion and no amendment to the 
motion shall be permitted unless it relates to the time of adjournment. 

 
14.14 Resumption of Adjourned Debate 
 
 On resuming an adjourned debate, the Member who moved its adjournment is 

entitled to speak first. 
 
 
14.15 Points of Order 
 
 A Member may raise a point of order at any time and will, with the consent of the 

Lord Mayor, be entitled to be heard immediately.  A point of order may relate only to 
an alleged breach of these Council Procedure Rules or statutory provision.  The 
Member must specify the Rule or statutory provision and the way in which s/he 
considers it has been broken.  The Lord Mayor’s ruling is final. 

 
 
 

Page 25



Council Procedure Rules 
                                                                                

Part 4(a) 
Page 16 of 23 

Issue 1 – 2015/16 
 

14.16 Personal explanation 
 

A Member may make a personal explanation at any time.  A personal explanation 
may only relate to some material part of an earlier speech by the Member which 
may appear to have been misunderstood in the present debate.  The ruling of the 
Lord Mayor on the admissibility of a personal explanation will be final. 

 
14.17 Lord Mayor’s Ruling Final 
 
 The ruling of the Lord Mayor on a point of order or on the admissibility of a personal 

explanation shall not be open to discussion. 
 
14.18 Interpretation of Council Procedure Rules 
 
 The ruling of the Lord Mayor as to the construction or application of any of these 

Rules, or as to any proceedings of the Council, shall not be challenged at any 
meeting of the Council and is final. 

 
15.0 RESCINDING RESOLUTIONS OF COUNCIL 
 
15.1 No resolution of the Council shall be rescinded or varied, except upon motion made 

on a notice which shall refer to the resolution sought to be rescinded or varied.  
Provided that this Rule shall not apply to motions moved in pursuance of a 
recommendation by the Executive Board or a committee established under Rule 
1.1(j) or a sub-committee thereof. 

 
16.0 VOTING 
 
16.1 Majority 
 
 Unless this Constitution or the law provides otherwise, any matter will be decided by 

a simple majority of those Members voting and present in the room at the time the 
question was put. 

 
16.2 Casting Vote 
 

At any meeting of the Council or a committee established under Rule 1.1(j), or a 
sub-committee thereof, the Chair shall, in case of an equal division of votes have a 
second or casting vote. 

 
 

16.3 Show of Hands 
 

(a) Unless a recorded vote is demanded under Rules 16.4 and 16.5, the Lord 
Mayor will take the vote by show of hands or if there is no dissent, by the 
affirmation of the meeting. 

(b) The result of a vote by show of hands will be announced provisionally by the 
Lord Mayor who will then allow a further reasonable period for any two 
Members to requisition a recorded vote.  If any such requisition is made, the 

Page 26



Council Procedure Rules 
                                                                                

Part 4(a) 
Page 17 of 23 

Issue 1 – 2015/16 
 

show of hands shall be disregarded and the voting will be recorded to show 
how each Member present voted. 

 
(c) If no such requisition is made before the Lord Mayor announces the next item 

of business or the closure of the meeting, as appropriate, the result of the 
show of hands as announced by the Lord Mayor will there upon become 
final. 

 
16.4 Recorded Vote 
 
 Where a recorded vote is required in accordance with paragraphs (a) or (b) below 

then the minute of the proceedings shall include a record of the names of persons 
who cast a vote for the decision or against the decision or who abstained from 
voting. 

 
 A recorded vote is required in the following circumstances:- 
 

(a) Any vote required to be recorded by law23, or  
(b) Any vote where, before the vote is taken on any matter before Council, any 

two Members of the Council demand that the votes are recorded. 
  
16.5 Right to Require Individual Vote to be Recorded 

 
 Where immediately after a vote is taken at a meeting if any Member so requires, 

there shall be recorded in the minutes of the proceedings of that meeting whether 
that person cast his/her vote for the question, against the question or whether s/he 
abstained from voting. 

 
16.6 Division Bells 
 

(a) Where a closing speech has started there will be a single ring of the bell. 
 
(b) In any situation where it has been agreed that a recorded vote shall be taken, 

there will be two rings of the bell and at least half a minute will elapse 
between the end of the final ring and the taking of the vote. 

 
 
16.7 Voting on Appointments 
 
 If there are more than two people nominated for any position to be filled by the 

Council, and there is not a clear majority in favour of one person, then the name of 
the person with the least number of votes shall be taken off the list and a new vote 
shall be taken.  The process will continue until there is a majority of votes for one 
person. 

 

                                            
23 Including but not limited to the requirement to record a vote in relation to a budget decision in accordance 
with paragraph 11 of Schedule 2, Part 2 of the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 
2001. 

Page 27



Council Procedure Rules 
                                                                                

Part 4(a) 
Page 18 of 23 

Issue 1 – 2015/16 
 

17.0 MINUTES 
 
17.1 Signing the Minutes 
 

(a) The Lord Mayor will put the question that the minutes of the previous 
meeting or meetings of the Council be approved as a correct record. 

 
(b) No discussion will take place upon the minutes, except upon their accuracy, 

and any question of their accuracy shall be raised by motion.  If no such 
question is raised, or it is raised then as soon as it has been disposed of, the 
Lord Mayor will sign the minutes. 

 
17.2 No requirement to sign minutes of previous meeting at Extraordinary Meeting 
 

Where in relation to any meeting, the next meeting for the purpose of signing the 
minutes is a meeting called under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12 to the Local  
Government Act 1972 (an Extraordinary Meeting) then the next following meeting 
(being a meeting called otherwise than under that paragraph) will be treated as a 
suitable meeting for the purposes of paragraph 41(1) and (2) of Schedule 12 
relating to signing of minutes. 
 

17.3 Form of Minutes 
 
Minutes will contain all motions and amendments in the exact form and order the 
Lord Mayor put them. 

 
18.0 RECORD OF ATTENDANCE 
 
18.1 The clerk for the meeting will record the attendance of all Members present during 

the whole or part of a meeting. 
 
 

19.0 EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC 
 
19.1 Subject to any statutory prohibitions and to paragraph 19.2 below, meetings of the 

Council and committees established under Rule 1.1(j) and any sub-committees 
thereof, shall be open to the public24.  This shall be without prejudice to any power 
of exclusion to suppress or prevent disorderly conduct or other misbehaviour at a 
meeting. 

 
19.2 The Council and committees established under Rule 1.1(j) and any sub-committees 

thereof may by resolution exclude the press and public from a meeting (whether 
during the whole part or part only of the proceedings) in accordance with the Access 
to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 

                                            
24 The Recording Protocol: Third Party Recording of Committees, Boards and Panels, set out at Appendix 1 
to the Access to Information Procedure Rules applies. 

Page 28



Council Procedure Rules 
                                                                                

Part 4(a) 
Page 19 of 23 

Issue 1 – 2015/16 
 

20.0 MEMBERS’ CONDUCT 
 
20.1 Standing to Speak 
 
 A Member when speaking at full Council must stand and address the Lord Mayor.  

If two or more Members rise, the Lord Mayor will call on one to speak and the other 
or others must sit.  While the Member is speaking, the other Members must remain 
seated unless rising on a point of order or personal explanation.  Members shall 
speak of each other by their titles of "Lord Mayor" or "Councillor" as the case may 
be. 

 
20.2 Lord Mayor Standing 
 
 When the Lord Mayor rises during a debate, any Member speaking at the time must 

stop and sit down.  The meeting must be silent. 
 
20.3 Member not to be Heard Further 

 
 If at a meeting any Member indulges in misconduct by behaving irregularly, 

improperly, offensively, or by wilfully obstructing the business of the Council, any 
other Member (including the Lord Mayor) may move “that the Member named be 
not further heard” and the motion, if seconded will, with the leave of the Lord Mayor, 
be put and voted on without further discussion.  

 
20.4 Member to Leave the Meeting 

 
 If the Member named continues the misconduct after a motion under the foregoing 

paragraph has been carried, the Lord Mayor shall either move "That the Member 
named do leave the meeting" (in which case the motion shall be put and determined 
without seconding or discussion) or adjourn the meeting of the Council for such 
period as the Lord Mayor shall consider expedient. 

 
 
20.5 General Disturbance 
 
 In the event of general disturbance which in the opinion of the Lord Mayor renders 

the orderly dispatch of business impossible, the Lord Mayor may, without question, 
adjourn the meeting of the Council for such period as s/he considers expedient. 

 
21.0 DISTURBANCE BY THE PUBLIC 
 
21.1 If a Member of the public interrupts the proceedings at any meeting the Lord Mayor 

will warn the person concerned.  If that person continues the interruption, the Lord 
Mayor will order their removal from the meeting room.   

 
21.2 In the case of general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the 

public the Lord Mayor may call for that part to be cleared. 
 
 

Page 29



Council Procedure Rules 
                                                                                

Part 4(a) 
Page 20 of 23 

Issue 1 – 2015/16 
 

22.0 SUSPENSION AND AMENDMENT OF COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 
 
22.1 Suspension 
 

Any Council Procedure Rule except Rule 16.5 and 17.2 may be suspended by a 
motion made and seconded and carried by a majority of the Members present at the 
meeting.  A motion to suspend in relation to the proposed introduction of an 
emergency motion25 should include the wording of the motion proposed to be 
considered.  The motion to suspend should not include the reasons why the 
suspension is being proposed.  Suspension is only for the duration of the meeting. 
 

22.2 Amendment 
 
 Any motion to add to, vary or revoke these Council Procedure Rules will, when 

proposed and seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to the next ordinary 
meeting of the Council. 

 
23.0 INTEREST OF MEMBERS AND OFFICERS 

 
23.1 Members must comply with the Members’ Code of Conduct. 
  
23.2 Directors shall record in a book kept for the purpose particulars of any notice given 

by an officer of the Council of a personal interest in a contract and each such book 
shall be open during office hours to the inspection of any Members of the Council. 
 
 

24.0 MOTIONS AFFECTING COUNCIL EMPLOYEES 
 
24.1 If any question arises at a meeting of the Council or a committee established under 

Rule 1.1(j) and any sub-committee thereof, open to the public as to the 
appointment, promotion, dismissal, salary, superannuation or conditions of service, 
or as to the conduct of any person employed by the Council, such question shall not 
be the subject of discussion until the Council, committee, or sub-committee, has 
decided whether or not the power of exclusion of the public under section 100A of 
the Local Government Act 1972 shall be exercised. 

 
25.0 APPLICATION TO COMMITTEES AND SUB COMMITTEES 
 
25.1 All of the Council Procedure Rules apply to meetings of full Council.  None of the 

Rules apply to meetings of the Executive (see Executive and Decision Making 
Procedure Rules).  Only the following Rules apply to meetings of committees and 
sub-committees:  
6.2,  7,  16.1,  16.2,  16.5,  17, 18,  19,  21,  23 - 28.  
 

25.2 References to “Lord Mayor” shall read “the Chair”. 
 

 

                                            
25 And all subsequent amendments. 

Page 30



Council Procedure Rules 
                                                                                

Part 4(a) 
Page 21 of 23 

Issue 1 – 2015/16 
 

26.0 SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS  
 
26.1 Allocation 
 

(a) In relation to each Plans Panel, the Council shall appoint substitute 
members, comprising all other members of the other Plans Panels, the 
Development Plan Panel and the Licensing Committee.  A nominated 
member shall be entitled to attend meetings in place of a regular member, 
subject to the substitute member having received appropriate training. 

 
(b) In relation to the Member Management Committee, an Executive Member, 

Deputy Executive Member, Whip or Assistant Whip shall be entitled to attend 
meetings in place of a regular member of the Committee. 

 
(c)  In relation to the Development Plan Panel, the Council shall appoint 

substitute Members, comprising all Members of the Plans Panels and the 
Licensing Committee.  A nominated Member shall be entitled to attend 
meetings in place of a regular Member, subject to the substitute Member 
having received appropriate training. 

 
(d)  In relation to the Corporate Governance and Audit Committee, the Council 

 shall appoint substitute members via nominations from group Whips. Each 
Whip shall nominate one substitute for each member that sits on the 
Committee. Whips may not nominate any members that would be excluded 
from full membership under the provisions of Article 9 of the Constitution. 

(e)  In relation to the General Purposes Committee, an Executive Member, 
Deputy Executive Member, group leader or deputy group leader, group whip 
or assistant whip, shall be entitled to attend meetings in place of a regular 
member of the Committee. 

(f) In relation to Scrutiny Boards, any non-executive member is eligible to attend 
in the place of an absent scrutiny board member.  

(g) In relation to Standards and Conduct Committee, the Council shall appoint 
substitute members via nominations from group Whips.  Each Whip shall 
nominate one substitute for each member that sits on the Committee. A 
nominated member shall be entitled to attend meetings in place of a regular 
member, subject to the substitute member having received appropriate 
training.  

(h) In relation to the Health and Wellbeing Board 

• the Council shall appoint substitute Members via nominations from 
group Whips. Each Whip shall nominate one substitute for each 
Member that sits on the Board; and 

• any non-voting representative of each Clinical Commissioning Group 
and of Healthwatch Leeds appointed by the Health and Wellbeing 
Board, may substitute for a relevant voting representative.   

Page 31



Council Procedure Rules 
                                                                                

Part 4(a) 
Page 22 of 23 

Issue 1 – 2015/16 
 

• the named substitute from the Third Sector can attend  and participate 
in meetings and vote in the absence of the Third Sector member 
appointed to the Board. 

i) In relation to Community Committees 

• Elected members cannot be substituted 

• Where a representative from a designated organisation has been co-
opted on to the Community Committee, that member can be 
substituted by another representative from that organisation, subject 
to the Chair being informed before the meeting of the proposed 
substitution. 

26.2 Substitution 
 

A substitute member shall be entitled to attend in place of a regular member 
provided that the Committee Clerk has been notified of this before the meeting 
begins.  Once the meeting has begun, the regular member in respect of whom 
notification has been received, shall no longer be entitled to attend that meeting as 
a member of the committee concerned.  
 

26.3   Powers and Duties 
 
 A substitute member shall be for all purposes a duly appointed member of the  

committee to which s/he is appointed as a substitute member for the meeting in 
question.  Substitute members will have all the powers and duties of any regular 
member of the committee, but will not be able to exercise any special powers or 
duties exercisable by the person for whom they are substituting. 

 
27.0 SPECIAL MEETINGS OF COMMITTEES 
 
27.1 The Chair of a committee established under Rule 1.1(j), may call a meeting at any 

time. A special meeting shall also be called on the requisition of any three Members 
of such committees delivered in writing to the Chief Executive.  The Agenda for 
such a special meeting shall set out the business to be considered thereat and no 
business other than that set out in the Agenda shall be considered at that meeting. 

 
28.0 QUORUM OF COMMITTEES AND SUB-COMMITTEES 
 
28.1 Four Members (including the Chair) shall form a quorum in committees established 

under Rule 1.1(j), except as follows: 
  
28.2 The quorum for the Employment Committee shall be two, including one Member of 

the Executive Board. 
 
28.3 The quorum for a meeting of a Community Committee shall be satisfied if at least 

one third of the Elected Ward Members are present, and at least one Elected Ward 
Member from each ward within the area is present.  In the case of those 
Committees comprised of only two wards, the quorum shall be satisfied if three 
Members are present and at least one Elected Ward Member from each ward within 
the area is present. 

Page 32



Council Procedure Rules 
                                                                                

Part 4(a) 
Page 23 of 23 

Issue 1 – 2015/16 
 

 
28.4 The quorum for the Licensing Committee shall be as set out in the Licensing 

Procedure Rules.  
 
28.5 The quorum of any sub-committee shall be determined by the appointing 

committee.  
 
28.6 The quorum of the Health and Wellbeing Board shall be four, including one 

councillor and a CCG representative. 
 
28.7 The quorum of the Housing Advisory Board shall be four, including two Councillors 

and one tenant/leaseholder voting co-opted member. 
 
28.8 Except where authorised by statute, business shall not be transacted at a meeting 

unless a quorum is present 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2
Indicative timing for Full Council
Summary of Changes following Trial Period

 New Start time 1pm rather than 1.30pm (see point 1) 
 Deputations and Question Time remain unaltered
 Confirmed removal of Backbench Community Concerns item.
 Cycle of Community Committee reports to be replaced by introduction of annual reports from 

committees appointed by Council (see 5a)
 Receipt of minutes item – to focus of Health and Wellbeing Board and Executive Board only (see 

point 6).
 Tea at 4.20pm (see point 7) 
 Devolved Matters Report considered immediately after tea for 30 minutes (see point 8)
 White papers for 45 minutes rather than 30 minutes (see point 9)
 Mover of White paper motion may speak for 5 minutes (see point 9)
 All speakers on White papers are able to do so for four minutes, including for summing up. 

Seconders of all Motions to be able to speak.
 No changes to other speaking times

BUSINESS TO BE CONSIDERED  APPROXIMATE 
TIMINGS

COMMENT

1. Commencement of Council 
meeting  

1.00pm Council commences ½ an hour 
earlier.  

2. Announcements/Minutes of 
the previous 
meeting/Declarations of 
Interests/communications

1.00pm to 
1.05pm

3. Deputations 1.05pm to 
1.30pm

No Change - up to 20 minutes if all 4 
‘slots’ are allocated

4. Question Time 1.30pm to 
2.00pm

No Change – 30 minute time 
allocation

5. Reports and Recommendations 
of Committees (Executive 
Board etc) (NB see report after 
to tea)

2.00pm – 
2.40pm

This varies for each meeting, 
averages at about 30 minutes for this 
block of business.

a) Themed Committee Annual 
Reports

For up to 30 
minutes per 
annual report

June/July – Scrutiny
Sept – Community  Committee
Nov – Planning
Jan – Licensing
March/April – Standards

Page 35



BUSINESS TO BE CONSIDERED  APPROXIMATE 
TIMINGS

COMMENT

b) Other procedural reports & 
recommendations from 
committees (Executive 
Board/General Purposes 
Committee etc)

For 
approximately 
10 minutes

6. Minutes (2.40pm – 
4.20pm – detail 
see below)

a) Health and Wellbeing Board 
Minutes

2.40pm to 
3.00pm

20 minutes slot (if no minutes are 
available this time to be added to 
consideration of Executive Board 
minutes below

b) Executive Board Minutes 3.00 to 4.10pm Approx. 1hr 10 minutes on Exec 
minutes – ‘guillotine’ at 4.10pm.

d) LEADER’S SUMMING UP 4.10pm to 
4.20pm

Leader’s summing on motion to 
receive the minutes (up ten minutes)

7. TEA BREAK 4.20pm to 
4:50pm

3hrs 20mins before tea: 2hrs 30mins 
after tea

8. Report on Devolved Matters 4.50pm – 
5.20pm

9. WHITE PAPERS X 3 5.20pm to  
7.35pm 

45 minutes per White paper each 
speaker speaking for up to 4 minutes 
with the exception of the original 
mover of the motion who may speak 
for up to 5 minutes. The seconder of 
a motion or amendment may also 
speak. NB This will allow ten speakers 
including the original mover as 
opposed to the current 8-9 members 
that currently speak.

COUNCIL FINISHES 7.40pm Plus a small amount of time for 
voting.

Page 36



Officer Delegation Scheme (Council (non-executive) functions) 
 

Part 3 Section 2C 
Page 1 of 2 

Issue 1 – 2016/17 
19th May 2016 

City Solicitor 
 

1. The City Solicitor is the Monitoring Officer for the Council. 
 
2. The City Solicitor is deputy Electoral Registration Officer1. 

 
3. The City Solicitor 2 is authorised to discharge the following Local Choice 

Functions which have been assigned to full Council (see Part 3 Section 1 of the 
Constitution): 

 
(a)  To appoint review boards under the Social Security Act 19983

 

 
(b)  To make arrangements for appeals against exclusion of pupils from maintained 

Schools 
(c)  To make arrangements for appeals regarding school admissions4

 

 
(d)  To make arrangements for appeals by governing bodies5

 

 
 
 
4. The City Solicitor is authorised to discharge the following Council (non-executive) 

functions:  
 

To make standing orders in relation to 
Access to Information 

Section 106 of, and paragraph 42 of 
Schedule 12 to the Local Government 
Act 1972 
 

5. Appointments to Committees Boards and Panels 
 

The City Solicitor is authorised to appoint members to vacancies during the 
period between the local elections and the Annual Council meeting, in 
consultation with appropriate whips, in order to secure that meetings 
necessary to be held during that period can proceed with adequate and 
appropriate membership levels. 

 
6. Provision of Legal Services 

 
The City Solicitor is authorised to take any action intended to give effect to a 
decision of the Council (including decisions taken by a Council committee in 
accordance with its terms of reference or by a Director in accordance with this 
scheme of delegation.) 

                                            
1 The Head of Licensing and Registration is also appointed as deputy Electoral Registration Officer. 
2 The fact that a function has been delegated to the City Solicitor does not require the City Solicitor to 
give the matter his/her personal attention and the City Solicitor may arrange for such delegation to be 
exercised by an officer of suitable experience and seniority.  However the City Solicitor remains 
responsible for any decision taken pursuant to such arrangements. 
3 s34 (4) Social Security Act 1998 
4 s94 (1), (1A) and (4) School Standards and Framework Act 1998 
5 s95 (2) School Standards and Framework Act 1998 

Appendix 3 

Page 37



Officer Delegation Scheme (Council (non-executive) functions) 
 

Part 3 Section 2C 
Page 2 of 2 

Issue 1 – 2016/17 
19th May 2016 

 
 

 
 

Page 38



Report of Chief Planning Officer

Report to General Purposes Committee

Date: 9 May 2016

Subject: Plans Panels Terms of Reference

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1. A review of the Plans Panels was conducted in summer 2012 and the formation of 
three new Panels North and East (N&E), South and West (S&W) and City Panel, was 
agreed by full Council in August 2012.

2. The terms of reference of the N&E Panel and S&W Panels covers significant and 
smaller applications within a geographical remit, whilst the terms of reference for the 
City Panel covers dealing with the largest and strategically important applications for 
the whole of the City as well as City Centre applications.

3. The Plans Panel arrangements have been in place since September 2012 and 
therefore it is timely to review the Plans Panel terms of reference in light of the 
changing planning landscape, the pick-up in the economy leading to more business 
being dealt with at the Panels, Panel workload imbalances and the priority of delivering 
housing growth expeditiously.

4. The review was conducted by the Joint Member Officer Working Group, a cross party 
group, comprising the Plans Panel Chairs, Development Plans Panel Chair and the 
Executive Member for Regeneration, Transport and Planning and representatives of 
each of the other political groups in the Council.   The group considered the existing 
terms of reference for the City Panel, reviewing the criteria for whether an item is dealt 
with at City Panel or an Area Panel, to ensure there is a correct workload balance 
between the Panels and to ensure that decisions on matters which have local impacts 
are made by the appropriate Area Panel. 

Report author:  Helen Cerroti
Tel:  0113 3952111

Page 39

Agenda Item 8



Recommendations

5. Members are recommended to consider the proposed changes to the City Panel terms 
of reference and recommend to full Council that they be approved.

Page 40



1 Purpose of this report

1.1 The existing arrangements for the Plans Panels have been in place since 2012, 
when a new City Panel and two Area Panels- North & East and South & West 
were created.

1.2 Since then the workload of the Panels has fluctuated, with often an imbalance of 
workloads between the three Panels and a heavy agenda for the City Panel, 
which deals with city centre applications as well as a range of applications of 
strategic importance.

1.3 A review of the terms of reference of the City Panel has recently been carried out 
in a bid to readdress the workload issues and to refocus the work of the City 
Panel and the Area Panels, placing applications before the most appropriate 
Plans Panel for consideration.

1.4 The review has been carried out by the Joint Member Officer Working Group, a 
cross party group, which has made a number of proposed changes to the City 
Panels terms of reference. 

1.5 To make changes to the size, scale and type of items going before the City Panel, 
requires changes to the terms of reference contained within the Council’s 
Constitution.  This report describes the changes and makes a recommendation 
that General Purposes Committee approve the changes to the City Panel terms of 
reference.

2 Background information

2.1 The Plans Panel decision making process has an important role to play in the 
reputation of the City, generating confidence within the development industry and 
helping to show that Leeds is an attractive location for investment.  Development 
arising from applications can have a significant impact on the City’s economy, on 
the prosperity and growth of local areas and the creation of new jobs and 
provision of new housing as the City grows in accordance with the adopted Core 
Strategy. It is important therefore that the City has a Plans Panel decision making 
framework which is reliable and transparent and is capable of making high quality, 
consistent, timely decisions. 

2.2 The Plans Panel arrangements adopted in 2012 created two Area Panels- North 
& East and South & West which consider applications of local significance to 
communities within their geographical remit and a City Panel which deals with the 
largest and strategically important applications for the whole of the City as well as 
City Centre applications.

2.3 The functions which the Panels are allowed to discharge are set out in their terms 
of reference. The City Panel’s terms of reference are largely based on dealing 
with applications meeting certain size and scale requirements or those 
applications of major strategic significance (either individually or cumulatively) in 
terms of job growth or retention; investment value and regeneration.  

Page 41



2.4 The Area Panel’s Terms of Reference authorise these panels to discharge town 
and country planning functions with the exception of those which the City Panel is 
authorised to discharge. The Area Plans Panels Terms of Reference are attached 
as Appendix 1 to this report for ease of reference

3 Main issues

3.1 The upturn in the economy and the priority of delivering the housing growth 
agenda has led to a greater workload particularly for the City Panel; there have 
been more meeting of the City Panel in order to deal with the business, with 14 
meetings over the year in comparison with 11 meetings of the South & West 
Panel and 12 meetings of the North & East Panel. Analysis of the application 
workload indicates that some of the items currently dealt with at the City Panel, 
whilst hitting the size/ scale threshold, are not necessarily strategically significant, 
and have more significant implications locally. 

3.2 The recommended changes to the City Panel’s terms of reference have 
concentrated on raising the thresholds which triggers the determination by City 
Panel and on concentrating activity on those matters which have a greater than 
local significance and should be considered within a wider strategic context. 

3.3 The proposed amendments to the City plans Panel Terms of Reference are set 
out at Appendix 2 attached.  For ease of reference the table below shows the 
appropriate extract of the current terms of reference together with proposed 
changes: 

City Panel existing terms of reference City Panel proposed terms of reference

Proposals within the City Centre (defined on a 
plan )

 Proposals that in the opinion of Chief 
Planning Officer in consultation with 
Executive Member and relevant Chairs 
are of major strategic significance  
(either individually or cumulatively) in 
terms of one or more of the following;  
job growth or retention; investment 
value and regeneration.

 Residential schemes involving 200 
residential units or more or a site area 
of 4 hectares or more if the number of 
units is not known

Proposals within the City Centre (defined on 
a plan)

Proposals that in the opinion of the Chief 
Planning Officer in consultation with 
Executive Member and relevant Chairs 
are;

 Of major strategic significance (either 
individually or cumulatively) in terms 
of one or more of the following; job 
growth or retention; investment and 
regeneration; importance to the city 
economically, culturally or 
recreationally

 Major residential schemes of 300 or 
more dwellings which have greater 
than local significance  and should be 
considered within a wider strategic 
context

Page 42



City Panel existing terms of reference City Panel proposed terms of reference

 Non- residential schemes involving 
floor space of 5,000 sq. m (gross) or 
more, or a site area of 2 hectares or 
more if the floor space is not known 

 Proposals that in the opinion of the 
CPO in consultation with the Executive 
Member and relevant Chairs are 
eligible for significant, time limited  
public funds ( including PFI schemes) 

 Non-residential schemes involving 
floor space of 10,000 sq. m (gross) or 
more which would have greater than 
local significance and should be 
considered within a wider strategic 
context

 Proposals that are eligible for 
significant, time limited public funds 
(including PFI schemes)

 That are contrary to adopted policy 
which are being brought forward for 
approval and could have significant 
strategic implications for other 
proposals in the city   

 Proposals for significant infrastructure 
provision which affects more than 
one area of the city that should be 
considered within a wider strategic 
context.    

3.4 The main changes are raising the threshold from 200 residential dwellings to 300 
dwellings and non-residential schemes from 5,000 sq m to 10,000 sq m for items 
to be taken to City Plans Panel.  Analysis of current workload would place a 
number of schemes previously within the City Panel terms of reference back with 
the Area Panels. The Area Panels would have the capacity to deal with the 
potential increase in numbers of items expeditiously provided some of the smaller 
matters currently taken are dealt with under delegated powers in consultation with 
Ward Members.  

3.5 As the Area Plans Panels Terms of Reference are expressed with the exception 
of those matters reserved to the City Plans Panel there is no need to make any 
correlative change to these terms of reference.  The Area Plans Panels have 
authority to discharge functions in relation to those matters no longer reserved to 
the City Plans Panel.

3.6 Outside the City Centre once the principle of a significant scheme has been 
determined any subsequent detailed applications and modifications can be dealt 
with by Area Panels unless they have wider strategic implications not previously 
dealt with at the City Plans Panel. 

3.7 The raised threshold will facilitate a renewed focus for City Panel in considering 
schemes (outside of the City centre) which have wider strategic implications and  
allows the Panel to concentrate its efforts on those applications where Panel can 
add the most value in driving through the Council’s strategic priorities. 

Page 43



3.8 Increasingly pre-application presentations have been a feature of the work of City 
Panel and are a very valuable part of the planning process on large, complex and 
strategically important applications.  The time freed up by receiving fewer items, 
means potentially more time can be allocated to those applications where greater 
scrutiny is required. 

3.9 The changes to the terms of reference also means the Area Panels will be able to 
consider those larger applications which no longer meet the size and scale 
thresholds, but which are of great significance and importance locally.  This may 
also refocus the work of the Panels, reducing the amount of smaller items, and 
concentrating effort on those schemes where the area Panels can add the most 
value. 

3.10 The definition of the City Centre area has not changed but has been reviewed in 
the light of known development pressure around the edges of the centre. 

4 Corporate Considerations

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 The Joint Member Officer Working Group has been consulted and the proposed 
changes agreed on 30 March 2016.

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 There are no specific implications arising from this report

4.3 Council policies and City Priorities

4.3.1 The effective and expedient determination of planning applications contributes to 
the overall prosperity of the City and plays a key part in the regeneration and 
growth agenda.  The service makes a key contribution to the delivery of housing 
growth.

4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 There are no specific implications arising from this report.  However, measures 
are being taken to ensure that the service is delivered within the financial 
constraints.

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from the report.

4.6 Risk Management

4.6.1 There are a number of risks associated with the decision making process which 
are both financial and reputational. It is important that the terms of reference are 
up to date, robust and transparent and adhered to, in order to minimise the risk of 
any challenge.

Page 44



5 Conclusions

5.1 The changes to the City Panel’s terms of reference will redress some of the 
workload imbalances currently experienced.  It will also refocus the purpose and 
role of the City and Area Panels, with decision making taking place in the most 
appropriate forum.

6  Recommendations

6.1 Members are recommended to consider the proposed changes to the City Panel 
terms of reference and recommend to full Council that they be approved.

7 Background documents1 

7.1 None

1 The background documents listed in this section are available for inspection on request for a period of four 
years following the date of the relevant meeting.  Accordingly this list does not include documents containing 
exempt or confidential information, or any published works.  Requests to inspect any background documents 
should be submitted to the report author.

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



Council Committees’ Terms of Reference

Part 3 Section 2B
Page 1 of 1

Issue 1 – 2015/16
21st May 2015

Area Plans Panels

The Area Plans Panels are authorised1 to discharge2 the following functions3

1. all Council (non-executive) 4 functions relating to:

(a) town and country planning and development management5 with the 
exception of functions which the City Plans Panel is authorised to 
discharge. 

(b) safety certificates for sports grounds 6;
(c) common land or town and village greens7;
(d) street works and highways8;
(e) public rights of way9 
(f) the protection of hedgerows and the preservation of trees10; and
(g) high hedges11

2. in respect of any approval, consent, licence, permission, or registration which 
they may grant:

(a) to impose conditions limitations or restrictions; 
(b) to determine any terms; 
(c) to determine whether and how to enforce any failure to comply; 
(d) to amend, modify, vary or revoke;  and/or
(e) to determine whether a charge should be made or the amount of such 

charge. 

3. to discharge any licensing function12, where full Council has referred a matter 
to the Area Plans Panel.

1 Each Plans Panel is authorised to discharge functions in respect of its own geographical area as 
indicated on the plan attached. (A larger scale more detailed copy of the plan is maintained by the 
Chief Planning Officer)
2 With the exception of any licensing function under the Licensing Act 2003, the Panel and the Council 
may arrange for any of these functions to be discharged by an officer – the functions for the time 
being so delegated are detailed in Section 2 of Part 3 of this Constitution.
3 “Functions” for these purposes shall be construed in a broad and inclusive fashion and shall include 
the doing of anything which is calculated to facilitate or is conducive or incidental to the discharge of 
any of the specified functions
4 Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities)(England)Regulations 2000 as amended
5 Items 5-31, Para. A of  Schedule 1 of the 2000 Regulations
6 Items 26 and 27 of Para B of Schedule 1 of the 2000 Regulations
7 Items 37, 38 and 72 of Para B and Items 51-53 of  Para I of Schedule 1 of the 2000 Regulations
8 Items 41,46A to 55 of Para B of Schedule 1 of the 2000 Regulations
9 Part I of Para I of Schedule 1 of the 2000 Regulations
10 Items 46 and 47 of Para I of Schedule 1 of the 2000 Regulations
11 Item 47A of Para. I of Schedule 1 of the 2000 Regulations
12 (section 7 (5) (a) of the Licensing Act 2003) The matter must relate to:

 a licensing function of the licensing authority and 
 a function which is not a licensing function

Unless the matter is urgent, the Panel must consider a report of the Licensing Committee in 
respect of the matter before discharging the function concerned (Section 7 (6))

Appendix 1

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Council Committees’ Terms of Reference                                               

Part 3 Section 2B 
Page 2 of 2 

Issue 1 – 2016/17 
19th May 2016 

City Plans Panel 
 
The City Plans Panel is authorised to discharge1 the following functions2 
 
1. all Council (non-executive)3 functions relating to: 
 

(a) town and country planning and development management4 in respect 
of the following types of applications: 

 
• proposals within the City Centre5; 
• proposals that (in the opinion of the Chief Planning Officer having 

consulted the appropriate Executive Member6 and Chair of the relevant 
Area Plans Panel7 and the Chair of the City Plans Panel) are of major 
strategic significance (either individually or cumulatively) in terms of 
one or more of the following; job growth or retention; investment value 
and regeneration; importance to the city economically, culturally or 
recreationally; 

• residential schemes involving 200 residential units or more or a site 
area of 4 hectares or more if the number of units is not knownof 300 or 
more dwellings which have greater than local significant and should be 
considered within a wider strategic context.; 

• non residential schemes involving proposed floor space of 5,00010,000 
square metres (gross) or more, or a site area of 2 hectare or more if the 
floor space is not knownwhich would have a greater than local 
significance and should be considered within a wider strategic context.; 

• proposals that (in the opinion of the Chief Planning Officer having 
consulted the appropriate Executive Member and Chair of the relevant 
Area Plans Panel and the Chair of the City Plans Panel) are eligible for 
significant , time limited public funds (including PFI schemes); 

• proposals that are contrary to adopted policy which are being brought 
forward for approval and could have significant strategic implications 
for other proposals in the city; 

• proposals for significant infrastructure provision which affects more 
than one area of the city that should be considered within a wiser 
strategic context. 

(b)  within the City Centre8 : 

                                            
1 With the exception of any licensing function under the Licensing Act 2003, the City Plans Panel and 
the Council may arrange for any of these functions to be discharged by an officer – the functions for 
the time being so delegated are detailed in Section 2 of Part 3 of this Constitution. 
2  “Functions” for these purposes shall be construed in a broad and inclusive fashion and shall include 
the doing of anything which is calculated to facilitate or is conducive or incidental to the discharge of 
any of the specified functions  
3 Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities)(England)Regulations 2000 as amended 
4 Items 5-31, Para. A of  Schedule 1 of the 2000 Regulations 
5 The City Centre for these purposes is the area indicated on the plan attached  
6 An “appropriate Executive Member” is the Leader or other appropriate portfolio-holding Member of 
the Executive Board. 
7 “relevant Area Plans Panel” means the Plans Panel which covers the geographical area within which 
the application is submitted    
8 See footnote 5 for definition of City Centre 

Appendix 2 

Page 49



Council Committees’ Terms of Reference                                               

Part 3 Section 2B 
Page 2 of 2 

Issue 1 – 2016/17 
19th May 2016 

• safety certificates for sports grounds9; 
• common land or town and village greens10; 
• street works and highways11; 
• public rights of way12;  
• the protection of hedgerows and the preservation of trees13; and 
• high hedges14 

 
2. in respect of any approval, consent, licence, permission, or registration which 

they may grant: 
 

(a) to impose conditions limitations or restrictions;  
(b) to determine any terms;  
(c) to determine whether and how to enforce any failure to comply;  
(d) to amend, modify, vary or revoke;  and/or 
(e) to determine whether a charge should be made or the amount of such 

charge.  
 
3. to discharge any licensing function15 where full Council has referred a matter 

to the City Plans Panel. 
 

                                            
9 Items 26 and 27  of Para B of Schedule 1 of the 2000 Regulations 
10 Items 37, 38 and 72 of Para B and Items 51-53 of  Para I of Schedule 1 of the 2000 Regulations 
11 Items 41,46A to 55 of Para B of Schedule 1 of the 2000 Regulations 
12 Part I of Para I of Schedule 1 of the 2000 Regulations 
13 Items 46 and 47 of Para I of Schedule 1 of the 2000 Regulations 
14 Item 47A of Para. I of Schedule 1 of the 2000 Regulations 
15 (section 7 (5) (a) of the Licensing Act 2003) The matter must relate to: 

• a licensing function of the licensing authority and  
• a function which is not a licensing function 

Unless the matter is urgent, the City Plans Panel must consider a report of the Licensing 
Committee in respect of the matter before discharging the function concerned (Section 7 (6)) 

Page 50


	Agenda
	6 Minutes - 9th February 2016
	7 Amendments to Council Procedure Rules
	160425 Appendix 1 Revised CPRs
	COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES
	1.0 ANNUAL MEETING OF COUNCIL
	2.0 ORDINARY MEETINGS

	6.0 NOTICE OF AND SUMMONS TO MEETINGS
	7.0 POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE LORD MAYOR
	8.0 QUORUM
	9.0 COMMUNICATIONS

	10.0 DEPUTATIONS
	13.0 MOTIONS/AMENDMENTS
	13.1 Motions and amendments requiring notice
	14.0 RULES OF DEBATE

	15.0 RESCINDING RESOLUTIONS OF COUNCIL
	16.0 VOTING
	17.0 MINUTES
	19.0 EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC
	20.0 MEMBERS’ CONDUCT
	21.0 DISTURBANCE BY THE PUBLIC
	22.0 SUSPENSION AND AMENDMENT OF COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES
	24.0 MOTIONS AFFECTING COUNCIL EMPLOYEES
	25.0 APPLICATION TO COMMITTEES AND SUB COMMITTEES


	160425 Appendix 2 Revised Timings for Council
	Appendix 3 pt3s2C 9 City Solicitor council deleg

	8 Plans Panels Terms of Reference
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2


